
Waverley Borough Council
Council Offices, The Burys, 
Godalming, Surrey
GU7 1HR
www.waverley.gov.uk

Page 1

To: All Members of the EXECUTIVE When calling please ask for:
Fiona Cameron, Democratic Services 
Manager & Deputy Monitoring Officer
Policy and Governance  
E-mail: fiona.cameron@waverley.gov.uk
Direct line: 01483 523226
Date: 19 March 2019

Membership of the Executive

Cllr Julia Potts (Chairman)
Cllr Ged Hall (Vice Chairman)
Cllr Andrew Bolton
Cllr Kevin Deanus

Cllr Jim Edwards
Cllr Jenny Else
Cllr Carole King
Cllr Chris Storey

Dear Councillors

A SPECIAL meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held as follows: 

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 27 MARCH 2019

TIME: 12.00 PM

PLACE: COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, THE BURYS, 

GODALMING

The Agenda for the Meeting is set out below.

Yours sincerely 

ROBIN TAYLOR
Head of Policy and Governance

Agendas are available to download from Waverley’s website 
(www.waverley.gov.uk/committees), where you can also subscribe to 
updates to receive information via email regarding arrangements for 

particular committee meetings. 

Alternatively, agendas may be downloaded to a mobile device via the free 
Modern.Gov app, available for iPad, Android, Windows and Kindle Fire.

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/committees


Page 2

Most of our publications can be provided in alternative formats. For an 
audio version, large print, text only or a translated copy of this publication, 

please contact committees@waverley.gov.uk or call 01483 523351.

This meeting will be webcast and can be viewed by visiting 
www.waverley.gov.uk/committees  

NOTES FOR MEMBERS

Contact Officers are shown at the end of each report and members are welcome to raise 
questions, make observations etc. in advance of the meeting with the appropriate 
officer.  

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  

To receive from members, declarations of interest in relation to any items 
included on the agenda for this meeting, in accordance with the Waverley 
Code of Local Government Conduct.

3. CONTRACTUAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND REQUEST FOR BUDGET 
VIREMENT  (Pages 5 - 16)

[Portfolio Holders: Cllr Jenny Else & Cllr Ged Hall]
[Wards Affected: All]

This report outlines the contractual dispute that has arisen relating to the 
construction of the Memorial Hall, Babbs Mead, West Street, Farnham 
following practical completion of the building which was achieved on 29 August 
2018.

The Council had been in the process of questioning the Extensions of Time 
awarded on this contract by Lytle Associates, the appointed Contract 
Administrator.  At the end of January 2019, Armfield Construction Ltd 
submitted an inflated interim account, application no. 26, for work on the Hall. 

On 19 February 2019, an Adjudication Referral Notice was received by the 
Council from Armfield Construction Ltd (ACL) regarding alleged non-payment 
of their payment application.

This report advises the Executive on the options that result from the 
Adjudication process and recommends a course of action to resolve this 
matter, with a virement decision as a financial solution.

Recommendation

That the Executive:

mailto:committees@waverley.gov.uk
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/committees


Page 3

1. Authorises officers to finalise and settle the negotiated settlement 
with Armfield Construction Ltd on the broad terms set out in this 
report, with the agreement of the detailed legal documents 
delegated to the Section 151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for 
Finance in consultation with the Borough Solicitor; and

2. in accordance with Waverley’s approved scheme of virement, 
agrees to vire £375,000 of capital budget from the Frensham 
project to the Memorial Hall capital scheme budget to meet the 
unbudgeted contractor cost resulting from this settlement.

4. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  

To consider the following recommendation on the motion of the Chairman:-

Recommendation

That, pursuant to Procedure Rule 20, and in accordance with Section 100A(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item(s) on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present during these items, 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information (as defined by Section 
100I of the Act) of the description specified at the meeting in the revised Part 1 
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

5. ANY OTHER ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED IN EXEMPT SESSION  

To consider matters (if any) relating to aspects of any reports on this agenda 
which, it is felt, may need to be considered in Exempt session.

For further information or assistance, please telephone 
Fiona Cameron, Democratic Services Manager & Deputy Monitoring 

Officer, on 01483 523226 or by email at 
fiona.cameron@waverley.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE

27 MARCH 2019

Title:

CONTRACTUAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND REQUEST FOR BUDGET VIREMENT

[Portfolio Holders: Cllr Jenny Else and Cllr Ged Hall]
 [Wards Affected: All]

Note pursuant to Section 100B(5) of the Local Government Act 1972

An Annexe to this report contains exempt information by virtue of which the public is likely 
to be excluded during the item to which the report relates, as specified in Paragraph 5 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, namely:

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

Summary and purpose:

This report outlines the contractual dispute that has arisen relating to the construction of 
the Memorial Hall, Babbs Mead, West Street, Farnham following practical completion of 
the building which was achieved on 29 August 2018.

The Council had been in the process of questioning the Extensions of Time awarded on 
this contract by Lytle Associates, the appointed Contract Administrator.  At the end of 
January 2019, Armfield Construction Ltd submitted an inflated interim account, application 
no. 26, for work on the Hall. 

On 19 February 2019, an Adjudication Referral Notice was received by the Council from 
Armfield Construction Ltd (ACL) regarding alleged non-payment of their payment 
application.

This report advises the Executive on the options that result from the Adjudication process 
and recommends a course of action to resolve this matter, with a virement decision as a 
financial solution.

Equality and Diversity Implications:

There are no such implications associated with this report.

Financial Implications:

The total budget approved by Council for the Memorial Hall project is £3.2m. The 
substantial part of this budget is the estimated main contractor cost. This report proposes 
a virement of £375,000 to cover the above-budget contractor cost arising from a 
negotiated final account settlement. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



The adjudication Referral Notice issued by the main contractor, ACL, on 19 February 2019 
has alleged non-payment of £854,887.84 as per ACL’s payment application (No 26).  If the 
Adjudicator makes a decision in ACL.’s favour the full amount would likely be payable 
within 7 days of the adjudicator’s decision.   If this were the case, the Council could issue a 
secondary adjudication against ACL.
 
The recommendation of this report is to agree to a negotiated final account outside of the 
adjudication process which significantly reduces the Council’s cost to £375,000. Of this 
amount, approximately £170,000 was to be expected as it relates to modifications and 
improvements made to the project by the Council (see para 2.3); the balance of £205,000 
is the negotiated full and final settlement, which removes the possibility of further dispute 
and claims from ACL. The amount can be met under the Council’s agreed virement 
scheme and authorised by the Executive.

It is proposed to vire £375,000 from Frensham Hub capital budget which has approved 
funding for the entire estimated project cost. The Council has recently applied for over 
£500,000 of grant towards this project so it is appropriate at this stage to transfer capital 
funding to meet the urgent need. The Council remains committed to the Frensham scheme 
and hopes that the funding bid will be successful. In the event that it is not, the financing of 
the scheme will need to be reviewed.

Legal Implications:

The Council entered a JCT “Standard Build Contract with Quantities 2011” with Armfield 
Construction Limited on 12 October 2016.   External specialist solicitors assisted with the 
drafting and completion of the JCT contract

In 2016, the Council appointed Michael Edwards Consultants (MEA) to act as Quantity 
Surveyors on the project and Lytle Associates as a) Architect and b) Contract 
Administrator to administer the contract.   Since the project commenced, the Council has 
sought external specialist construction advice from Browne Jacobson solicitors under the 
Surrey framework agreement.

ACL is entitled by the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
(“Construction Act 1996”) and the contract, to refer a dispute under a construction contract 
to adjudication at any time.  This is a tactic which many contractors use to assist their cash 
flow.

1. Background

1.1 On 12 October 2016, the Council, following an appropriate procurement process, 
entered into a JCT Standard Building Contact with Armfield Construction Limited 
(ACL).  The work was administered, from a project view point by an external 
Contract Administrator, Lytle Associates.  A Quantity Surveyors service was bought 
in from Michael Edwards Consultants Limited (MEA). 

1.2 The contract was for part demolition, extension, remodelling and refurbishment 
works to create a new multi-purpose facility, with external works at the Memorial 
Hall, Babbs Mead, West Street, Farnham. 

1.3 The works were commenced on 5 September 2016. There were significant delays 
throughout the project and the works were certified for Practical Completion on 29 

Page 6



August 2018, nearly a year late. There is disagreement between the Council and 
ACL as to where the responsibility for that delay lies.

1.4 Works to complete the building and snagging have continued following Practical 
Completion. These works included some finishing of the external surfaces and 
relevelling of the parking areas, internal finishing and painting. 

2. Extension of Time

2.1 Construction contracts generally allow the construction period to be extended where 
there is a delay that is not the contractor’s fault. This is described as an Extension 
of Time (“EoT”). 

2.2 Some EoT was agreed on this contract early on which extended the finish date from 
late August until 27 October 2017. This allowed for the additional changes to the 
design and the subsequent impact upon the supply and installation of the steel 
frame.

2.3 The agreed EoTs extended the build time by 10 weeks until October 2017. These 
additional EoTs primarily covered changes to the building made to accommodate 
Waverley Training Service. Further changes and improvements were made by 
Waverley as detailed in Appendix 1, which have costs and some time associated 
with them. These changes were made to:

1) ensure the maximum usability of the building 
2) make it more readily accessible to all in the community 
3) protect the privacy of the surrounding properties and 
neighbourhood. 

2.4 Had the project progressed in the normal way officers would have been likely to 
request an additional budget to cover some of these items at completion when full 
costs were known. Officers now know that these changes cost an additional 
£170,000. The position on the Adjudication makes challenging them unlikely.

2.5 The Council promptly took external legal advice and began the initial process of 
challenging this decision through a series of letters to the Contract Administrator, 
Lytle. During this early stage of questioning the EoT’s ACL began the formal 
Adjudication process

3. Payment Dates

3.1 The standard JCT Contract contains a process for payment of contracted works. In 
this JCT contract the due date for payments is the 5th of the month or the nearest 
working day. This is a key part of the technical dispute which is critical to ACL’s 
case. The process is as follows:

a) The payment process is triggered by the contractor, ACL, putting in an 
interim payment application, No 26 in this instance. 

b) The Quantity Survey assesses that application and submits a valuation 
of the works that have been done in that period; (this could be zero).

Page 7



c) The Contact Administrator then issues an Interim Certificate to the 
Council stating the sum that they consider due. The obligation to issue 
Interim Certificates is a mandatory one under the contract. 

d) The failure to issue an Interim Certificate has the effect of turning the 
Contractor’s Interim Payment Application into an Interim Payment 
Notice. 

e) This in essence means that the sum on the Contractor’s Interim 
Payment Application is then due.

4. Adjudication

4.1 Generally, adjudicators do not have the power to award costs (other than their own 
fees and expenses). Adjudication must adhere to strict timescales and typically the 
process takes up to 28 days.

4.2 The adjudicator’s decision is taken purely on the JCT contractual terms with no 
regard to “reasonableness” from either party in conduct. Importantly, the parties do 
not have the ability to vary the terms of the Adjudication decision.

5. Options available to the Council 

5.1 Option 1: Allow the Adjudication to continue 

The Council does not have the ability to counter the Adjudication until it has been 
determined. We have the option to do nothing and allow ACL to take us through the 
process. 

If the Adjudicator makes a decision in ACL’s favour in relation to payment 
application No. 26, they will award the full £854,887.84 payable by the Council 
within 7 to 14 days, plus costs. The Adjudicator does not have the ability to lessen 
the amount or vary its terms. 

If this happened, once we have paid the full amount a secondary adjudication could 
then be issued by the Council against ACL for the true valuation of the application 
No. 26.

It should be noted that application 26, which the Adjudication relates to, is not a full 
and final valuation and further invoices are likely to be received during a further 
protracted process. 

5.2 The Adjudicator could make a decision in Waverley’s favour in relation to ACL’s 
payment application No. 26, denying the full £854, 887.84 is payable by us. If this 
course of action took place, we would then be left to settle the final account through 
a serious of ongoing payment applications. Waverley’s external lawyers have 
indicated what they consider to be Waverley’s prospects of success in the 
adjudication and this information is included at exempt annexe.  

5.3 Option 2: Negotiate a “without prejudice” settlement with ACL

A potential “Without Prejudice” settlement has been negotiated by Council Officers 
with ACL to agree a full and final settlement of the account. Any such settlement 
outside of the adjudication process could avoid lengthy and expensive legal action 

Page 8



to recover the true amount from ACL and any other third parties, which carries 
considerable risk. 

If this course is taken the Council would need additional budget provision of 
£375,000 to meet the costs of the settlement. This is made up of known costs as 
outlined in 2.3, plus the a negotiated settlement. Whilst officers dispute the basis of 
this claim, failing to take this course of action could expose Waverley to 
approximately at least a further £500,000 of costs through the formal adjudication 
process.

Summary of Options

Pros Cons 

Option 1 Do nothing and let the ACL 
Adjudication run

It is possible that the Adjudicator 
would find in favour of WBC (see 
exempt Annexe).

If the Adjudicator finds against the 
Council, a second adjudication 
could be launched with some 
chance of recovering some of the 
£854,887.84.

Time involved in formal 
adjudication process.

Additional costs could be awarded 
against us, including all 
Adjudication costs. 

No guarantee that Waverley can 
recover any additional.

Further invoices could be 
submitted by ACL as current 
dispute is on interim payment.

Option 2 Agree a negotiated settlement

Certainty of outcome, known 
costs and agreed final outcome of 
the payment 
No further protracted or costly 
dispute.

We will be unable to challenge 
ACL any further on these disputed 
costs.

5.4 Since ACL launched the Adjudication process, members of the Executive and the 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Value for Money Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Audit Committee have been kept appraised of progress with the 
negotiations. In support of the options appraisal the template adopted by the 
Council, following the Audit Committee’s consideration, has been used and this is 
attached at Annexe 2.

6. Conclusion 

6.1 ACL has issued an Adjudication against the Council in relation to Interim Payment 
Application No. 26. The Council considers that part of ACLs application is inflated 
and without sufficient evidence provided to the Quantity Surveyor

6.2 This type of claim through a contractual technicality is named as a ‘smash and grab’ 
claim, although lawful it is a disappointing approach to take to a contractual dispute.  

Page 9



The Council is exposed to considerable potential costs through this Adjudication 
action. However, officers are pleased that ACL have subsequently been prepared to 
negotiate a final account settlement outside of the Adjudication process.

6.3 On balance, and having taken the pros and cons of all available options into 
account, it is recommended that option 2 – the agreement of a negotiated 
settlement – offers the best possible and most proportionate course of action in this 
situation.  

Recommendation

That the Executive:

1. Authorises officers to finalise and settle the negotiated settlement with Armfield 
Construction Ltd on the broad terms set out in this report, with the agreement of 
the detailed legal documents delegated to the Section 151 Officer and Portfolio 
Holder for Finance in consultation with the Borough Solicitor; and

2. in accordance with Waverley’s approved scheme of virement, agrees to vire 
£375,000 of capital budget from the Frensham project to the Memorial Hall 
capital scheme budget to meet the unbudgeted contractor cost resulting from 
this settlement.

Background Papers

There are no background papers (as defined by Section 100D(5) of the Local Government 
Act 1972) relating to this report. 

CONTACT OFFICER:

Name: Annie Righton, Strategic Director Telephone: 01483 523206
E-mail: Annie.righton@waverley.gov.uk

Page 10

mailto:Annie.righton@waverley.gov.uk


Annexe 1

Main elements of improvements and additional costs

Improved lighting, heating & sound system for Main Hall £34,000
Improved Kitchen Extract £12,000
Replacement windows throughout building and window 
automation

£37,600

Increased power and data requirements £25,000
Additional Asbestos Removal £18,500
Additional ground levelling for ease of access & additional 
drainage

£23,000

Additional Holding Bolts £6,000
     

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 2
Template for requesting additional funding – agreed by Council 19/3/19

Your name / team
Annie Righton, Strategic Director

Date of request
19 March 2019

Why has the need for additional funds which cannot be met from existing 
budgets arisen?   

The need for additional funding for the Memorial Hall capital project is explained in 
the accompanying report to Executive. It can be met from existing capital budgets 
but from another capital scheme which is why a virement is requested, not a 
supplementary estimate. In summary, the need has arisen from a negotiated full and 
final settlement with the developer. The virement is possible because the Frensham 
capital scheme should now receive external funding which wasn’t originally 
anticipated. The value of the funding bid is significantly more than the budget 
virement requested.

How much money is being requested and what will it be spent on?

A virement of £375,000 is being requested to meet the above-budget contract 
element  of the main contractor cost. This amount  includes the cost of 
enhancements and agreed additional spec changes to the memorial Hall project 
(circa £170k), the balance being the negotied settlement figure.

When will the money be spent by?

If the Executive agrees to the negotiated settlement, the required payment will be 
made immediately following the Executive’s decision being actionable.

Value for Money Assessment
What other options have been considered (including doing nothing)?

The other option, which is explained in detail in the report, is to do nothing. This will 
result in the adjudication process brought about by the contractor, and currently 
underway, completing.  This could lead to the Council being required to pay the full 
£854,887.84 interim claim being made by the contractor within 7 days. Officers have 
taken legal advice on the prospects of success and this information is included in the 
exempt annexe.

What are the expected benefits will the planned expenditure bring?

The benefit of the recommended course of action ie. to agree the final account 
through negotiation rather an imposed position therough an adjudication process, is:

- The amount is significantly lower – approx. £500k – than the alternative
- The alternative adjudication process has an uncertain outcome and is only on 

an interim claim basis leaving further claims for payment possible

Page 13



The proposed action achieves a full and final settlement 

What are the risks, if any, of agreeing or refusing the supplementary estimate?

The risks of agreeing is potentially reputational damage for the Council for incurring 
an overspend on a capital project

The risks of not taking the proposed settlement action are:
- Potentially much higher costs to pay with uncertain prospect of recovering any 

amount of this through a counter-adjudication process

Please complete this form and send it to the Head of Finance and s.151 Officer.

Page 14



Document is Restricted

Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Contractual Dispute Resolution and Request for Budget Virement
	ANNEXE 2
	EXEMPT ANNEXE


